RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN

05-09-2019

IN SUPREME COURT

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

Case No. 2017AP001416-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

MATTHEW C. HINKLE,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

On Review of a Decision of the Wisconsin Court of Appeals, District II, Affirming a Judgment of Conviction and Order Denying Postconviction Relief Entered in the Fond du Lac County Circuit Court, the Honorable Robert J. Wirtz Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER

Christina Starner Attorney at Law State Bar No. 1075570

P.O. Box 12705 Green Bay, WI 54307 608-213-2228 starner.law@gmail.com

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Did the Fond du Lac County criminal court lack competency under § 938.183(1)(b) to proceed on Hinkle's non-traffic counts, when competency was based solely on Milwaukee County juvenile court's previous waiver, thus entitling Hinkle to plea withdrawal?

Both the circuit court and the court of appeals held that the Fond du Lac County adult court had original jurisdiction over Hinkle under § 938.183(1)(b) as a result of Milwaukee County juvenile court's previous waiver of jurisdiction. (85:29-31; App. 120-22). *State v. Matthew C. Hinkle*, 2018 WI App 67, ¶ 1, 384 Wis. 2d 612, 921 N.W.2d 219. (App. 102-03).

2. Did trial counsel provide ineffective assistance by failing to object to the addition of the non-traffic counts in adult court, for failing to object to the Fond du Lac County juvenile court order waiving jurisdiction, and for affirmatively misinforming Hinkle that the Milwaukee County waiver would automatically place him in adult court in Fond du Lac?

Both the circuit court and the court of appeals held that trial counsel interpreted the law correctly and therefore her performance was not deficient. *Hinkle*, 2018 WI App 67, ¶ 24 (App. 113) (85:31; App. 122).

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

This Court's decision to grant review suggests both oral argument and publication are warranted.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The criminal complaint in Fond du Lac County case 15-CF-418 alleged that in July 2015, when Hinkle was 16 years old, the police found Hinkle driving a car in Fond du Lac County that had been reported stolen from Milwaukee. (2;10;56). The complaint alleged that after officers approached the vehicle, Hinkle led police on a high-speed chase in which he hit other cars, lost control, fled on foot, and was ultimately detained after a K-9 was deployed. (2:2-4).

This series of events led to two Milwaukee County cases (adult court case number 15-CF-5011 and juvenile court case number 15-JV-248B) and two Fond du Lac County cases (adult court case number 15-CF-418 and juvenile court case number 15-JV-89).

Milwaukee County Cases

In Milwaukee County, the state filed a delinquency petition on July 17, 2015 in case number 15-JV-248B, along with a petition for waiver of juvenile jurisdiction. (57). On October 28, 2015, the Milwaukee County juvenile court held a waiver hearing pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 938.18. (57). At that hearing, the juvenile court waived its jurisdiction over Hinkle, thus giving the Milwaukee County criminal court exclusive jurisdiction over the matter. Wis. Stat. § 938.18(6). (56:2-3;57). On November 19, 2015, the state filed a criminal complaint in Milwaukee County case number 15-CF-5011, charging Hinkle with two of the counts waived by the Milwaukee County juvenile court: robbery with use of force, and take and drive vehicle without consent. Wis. Stat. §§ 932.32(1)(a) & 943.23(2). (56:1).

Fond du Lac County Cases

Fond du Lac County adult court case number 15-CF-418 was commenced on July 28, 2015 when the state filed a criminal complaint in adult court alleging four traffic-related counts, consisting of one count of Attempt Flee or

Elude a Traffic Officer, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 346.04(3) and three counts of hit and run – attended vehicle, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 346.67(1). (2:1). The adult criminal court had jurisdiction over these counts pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 938.17, as they were traffic-related offenses contained within chapters 341 to 351. (2:1).

The state also filed a delinquency petition in Fond du Lac County juvenile court case number 15-JV-89 asserting fourteen non-traffic counts that did not qualify for adult court under Wis. Stat. § 938.17. ¹ (57). Along with the delinquency petition, the state filed a petition for waiver of juvenile jurisdiction. (57). On August 26, 2015, the Fond du Lac juvenile court held a hearing on the State's petition for waiver. (62). At that hearing, trial counsel stated that Hinkle will contest the waiver and asked the court to schedule a contested waiver hearing. (62:3).

The Fond du Lac juvenile court held another hearing on November 18, 2015. (64). At that hearing, the court stated that on November 17th the court received a copy of a Milwaukee County order waiving juvenile jurisdiction. (64:2). The court then directed the parties to Wis. Stat. § 938.183(1)(b), which allows for exclusive original adult court jurisdiction if the court assigned to exercise jurisdiction under chapters 48 and 938 has waived its jurisdiction over the juvenile for a previous violation and criminal proceedings on that previous violation are still pending. (64:3).

The parties anticipated that the Fond du Lac adult court would attain jurisdiction pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 938.183(1)(b) as soon as the Milwaukee County charges were formally transferred to adult court. (64:2-8). The Fond du Lac juvenile court adjourned the hearing until after it received proof that the Milwaukee complaint was filed. (64).

9

¹ The non-traffic counts consisted of seven counts of 2nd Degree Recklessly Endangering Safety, one count of Operating Motor Vehicle without Consent, three counts of Resisting or Obstructing an Officer, and three counts of Criminal Damage to Property. (57).

On November 19, 2015, the Fond du Lac juvenile court received a certified copy of the Milwaukee criminal complaint, and the parties reconvened. (61:2). When asked whether Hinkle was contesting waiver, trial counsel stated she believed adult court jurisdiction would now be automatic (pursuant to § 938.183), and added that Hinkle was not agreeing to a waiver (pursuant to § 938.18). (61:3; App. 125). The court determined that as a result of the Milwaukee County waiver and pending criminal proceeding, the Fond du Lac adult criminal court would have exclusive original jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 938.183(1)(b), in lieu of the formal waiver process under § 938.18. (61:2-3; App. 124-25).

Even though the juvenile court orally decided that Hinkle was subject to the exclusive original jurisdiction of the criminal court under § 938.183(1)(b), it nevertheless signed a written order on that same date waiving juvenile jurisdiction under § 938.18. (61:2-3; App. 124-25; 57; App. 135). The order states that a waiver hearing was held on November 19, 2015, and a box is checked, stating: "The petition for waiver was not contested. The juvenile's decision to not contest is a knowing, intelligent and voluntary decision." (57; App. 135).

The state then filed an amended information in Fond du Lac County criminal case number 15-CF-418. (10). The amended information contained the original four traffic-related counts, but also added the fourteen non-traffic counts that were previously filed in juvenile court (which appear as counts 5-18 on the amended information). (10).

Hinkle subsequently entered no contest pleas to counts 1, 2, 5, 13, 16, and 17, an Alford plea to count 12, and the remaining counts were dismissed and read in. (25; App. 127-34). On counts 1, 5, and 12, the court sentenced Hinkle to a total of 9 years imprisonment (6 in, 3 out). (25; App. 127-34). On counts 2, 13, 16 and 17, the court withheld sentence and ordered two years probation. (25; App. 127-34).

Postconviction Proceedings

Hinkle filed a postconviction motion arguing that the adult court lacked competency to proceed on counts 5-18, that the waiver order was not valid, and that trial counsel provided ineffective assistance for failing to object to the addition of those counts. (44).

A hearing on the motion was held on July 6, 2017. (85). Hinkle called trial counsel and Hinkle to testify. (85). Regarding § 938.18 waiver, trial counsel testified that Hinkle was never waived into adult court and the waiver order does not reflect what actually happened. (85:7). Regarding § 938.183, trial counsel testified that she never filed a motion arguing that the Milwaukee County waiver was not sufficient to give the Fond du Lac County adult court original jurisdiction over counts 5-18, because she did not believe the argument had legal grounds. (85:5-6,9). When asked whether she specifically considered that argument and rejected it, or whether she did not consider it at all, she responded that she never considered filing a motion because she believed that a juvenile is always waived after any prior waiver. (85:9).

Hinkle testified that he never told the juvenile court that he agreed to waive jurisdiction. (85:15). He also testified that he did not know counts 5-18 belonged in juvenile court and that, if he had known that, he would have wanted his attorney to file a motion fighting those counts and would not have accepted the plea bargain. (85:15).

The court denied the motion. (85:29; App. 120). Regarding the § 938.183 claim, the court found that the statute does not specifically say it must be the same county, and that the court assigned to exercise jurisdiction under chs. 48 and 938 is any court that handles juvenile matters. (85:30-31; App. 121-22). Regarding the ineffective assistance of counsel claim, the court found that trial counsel correctly interpreted the law and was therefore not ineffective. (85:31; App. 122).

Court of Appeals

In a published opinion dated October 31, 2018, the court of appeals affirmed the circuit court's decision. *State v. Hinkle*, 2018 WI App 67, 384 Wis. 2d 612, 921 N.W.2d 219. (App. 101-117). The court of appeals held, over dissent, that when a juvenile court waives a juvenile into adult court, that waiver binds *all* future courts – not just the court that waived the juvenile. *Id.* ¶ 1 (App. 102). The majority reached this conclusion mainly on linguistic grounds, concluding that "the court" refers to the specific court that previously waived the juvenile – not the court of the county where the new charges are to be filed. *Id.* ¶ 19-20. (App. 109-11). The majority reasoned that the court in the current county would not be "assigned to exercise jurisdiction" if it already waived the juvenile for a previous violation. *Id.* ¶ 19. (App. 109-10).

The dissent agreed with Hinkle's reading of the statute. The dissent noted that if the legislature intended for one juvenile court's waiver to bind all future courts in all counties, then it would have used the term "any court" instead of "the court." Id. ¶ 27 (App. 115). It noted that this interpretation is consistent with the core purpose of the juvenile justice system. Id. ¶¶ 26, 30. (App. 114, 117). The dissent argued that this interpretation is also better policy; each county runs its own juvenile system and this would keep intact each county's discretion to consider whether it has the resources to invest in a juvenile. Id. ¶¶ 28-29. (App. 115-117).

Hinkle filed a petition for review that this Court granted on April 9, 2019.

ARGUMENT

I. The Fond du Lac County adult court lacked competency to proceed on the non-traffic counts, as neither Wis. Stat. §§ 938.18 nor 938.183 entitled the Fond du Lac adult court to attain jurisdiction over those counts. Hinkle is entitled to withdraw his plea because it was not knowing, intelligent, or voluntary.

A. General principles of juvenile law

The juvenile court generally has exclusive jurisdiction over any juvenile 10 years of age or older who is alleged to be delinquent. However, there are three statutory exceptions that allow a juvenile to be charged in adult court. Those exceptions are provided in Wis. Stat. §§ 938.17, 938.18, and 938.183.

Wis. Stat. § 938.17 provides that courts of criminal jurisdiction have exclusive jurisdiction in proceedings against juveniles 16 years of age or older for certain traffic-related violations, including those in chapters 341 to 351.

Wis. Stat. § 938.18 provides a process for the juvenile court – although it has original jurisdiction – to waive its jurisdiction and send a juvenile offender to adult court. If the defendant contests the petition for waiver of juvenile jurisdiction, then a hearing is held at which the district attorney must present relevant testimony and the juvenile has the right to present testimony on his behalf. Wis. Stat. §§ 938.18(3)(b) & (4)(b). If the defendant does not contest the waiver, then the court must conduct a colloquy with the defendant to ensure that the decision to not contest is made knowingly, intelligently and voluntarily. Wis. Stat. § 938.18(4)(c). After the appropriate process is complete, the court then must base its decision whether to waiver jurisdiction on the criteria specified in Wis. Stat. § 938.18(5).

If, after following the above procedure, the juvenile court determines by clear and convincing evidence that waiver into adult court is appropriate, then the juvenile court will sign an order waiving juvenile court jurisdiction (Wisconsin Circuit Court Form JD-1723) and the matter is referred to the district attorney for appropriate criminal proceedings. Wis. Stat. § 938.18(6).

Finally, Wis. Stat. § 938.183 specifies exceptions in which the adult criminal court has original jurisdiction over a juvenile for certain crimes and certain conditions. One such exception is provided in § 938.183(1)(b) – the statute at issue in this appeal – which states:

Notwithstanding ss. 938.12(1) and 938.18, courts of criminal jurisdiction have exclusive original jurisdiction over ... a juvenile who is alleged to have violated any state criminal law if the juvenile has been convicted of a previous violation following waiver of jurisdiction under s. 48.18, 1993 stats., or s. 938.18 by the court assigned to exercise jurisdiction under this chapter and ch. 48 or if the court assigned to exercise jurisdiction under this chapter and ch. 48 has waived its jurisdiction over the juvenile for a previous violation and criminal proceedings on that previous violation are still pending.

Wis. Stat. § 938.183(1)(b) (emphasis added).

B. Hinkle was not properly waived into Fond du Lac County adult court under Wis. Stat. § 938.18.

The Fond du Lac County order waiving juvenile court jurisdiction was clearly signed in error, as it directly contradicts what actually happened at the hearing, including the court's oral ruling. The whole point of adjourning the November 18, 2015 hearing was to allow time for the Milwaukee County adult case to formally be "pending" so they could proceed under Wis. Stat. § 938.183(1)(b) instead of § 938.18. At the November 19th hearing, the court unambiguously stated that "as a consequence" of the Milwaukee waiver, "under Section...938.183(1)(b), the ... criminal court would have exclusive original jurisdiction over this matter in lieu of the formal waiver process." (61:2-3; App. 124-25). When a conflict exists between a court's oral pronouncement and a

written order, the oral pronouncement controls. *State v. Perry*, 136 Wis. 2d 92, 114, 401 N.W.2d 748 (1987).

Furthermore, the boxes checked on the order contradict the events at the hearings and Hinkle's position on waiver. Even though trial counsel explicitly stated that Hinkle was not agreeing to a waiver, and even though no colloquy was performed, the order nevertheless states: "The petition for waiver was not contested. The juvenile's decision to not contest is a knowing, intelligent and voluntary decision." (57; App. 135).

The November 19, 2015 hearing was not a waiver hearing. There was no testimony taken, no colloquy performed, and the court did not consider the statutory criteria in § 938.18(5) as required for a waiver hearing. (See 61). Based on the parties' discussions on November 18th and 19th, as well as the court's unambiguous pronouncement, counts 5-18 were clearly intended to arrive in adult court solely through § 918.183, not § 938.18. The juvenile court erroneously exercised its discretion in signing the order and it should not be valid or hinder Hinkle from obtaining relief if this Court agrees with his interpretation of § 938.183(1)(b).

C. The non-traffic counts were not properly in adult court under Wis. Stat. § 938.183. The plain language of Wis. Stat. § 938.183(1)(b) permits original adult court jurisdiction over a juvenile only if the juvenile court in the county where the new charges are to be filed had waived jurisdiction over the juvenile for a previous violation. Because Fond du Lac juvenile court had not waived jurisdiction over Hinkle for a previous violation, the Fond du Lac adult court did not have competency to proceed on counts 5-18.

Statutory interpretation is a question of law subject to de novo review. *State v. Peters*, 2003 WI 88, \P 13, 263 Wis. 2d 475, 665 N.W.2d 171.

Statutory interpretation begins with the plain language of the statute. *State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court*,

2004 WI 58, ¶ 45, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 663, 681 N.W.2d 110. Statutory language is given its common, ordinary and accepted meaning, except that technical or specially-defined words or phrases are given their technical or special definitional meaning. *Bruno v. Milwaukee County*, 2003 WI 28, ¶¶ 8, 20, 260 Wis. 2d 633, 660 N.W.2d 656. *Kalal*, 2004 WI 58, ¶ 45, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110.

Context is important to meaning. *Kalal*, 2004 WI 58, \P 46. Therefore, statutory language is interpreted in the context in which it is used – not in isolation but as part of a whole, in relation to the language of surrounding or closely-related statutes, and reasonably, to avoid absurd or unreasonable results. *Id*.

"[S]cope, context, and purpose are relevant to a plain-meaning interpretation of an unambiguous statute as long as the scope, context, and purpose are ascertainable from the text and structure of the statute itself, rather than extrinsic sources, such as legislative history." *Id.* ¶ 48.

If this process of analyzing statutory language yields a plain, clear statutory meaning, then the court ordinarily stops the inquiry and applies the plain meaning. *Bruno*, 2003 WI 28, ¶ 20; *Kalal*, 2004 WI 58, ¶¶ 45, 51 ("We have repeatedly emphasized that 'traditionally, resort to legislative history is not appropriate in the absence of a finding of ambiguity.' ... [T]he rule prevents the use of extrinsic sources of interpretation to vary or contradict the plain meaning of a statute...")(citing *Seider v. O'Connell*, 2000 WI 76, ¶ 50, 236 Wis. 2d 211, 235-236, 612 N.W.2d 659).

However, if the plain language proves ambiguous, courts look beyond the statute. *State v. Floyd*, 2000 WI 14, ¶ 12, 232 Wis. 2d 767, 773, 606 N.W.2d 155. A statute is ambiguous if it is capable of being understood in two or more ways by reasonably well-informed persons. *State v. Villamil*, 2017 WI 74, ¶ 20, 371 Wis. 2d 519, 885 N.W.2d 381, 487. When a statute is ambiguous, a reviewing court may consult legislative history as part of its statutory analysis. *Id.*

Further, "when there is doubt as to the meaning of a criminal statute, a court should apply the rule of lenity and interpret the statute in favor of the accused." *State v. Cole*, 2003 WI 59, ¶ 13, 262 Wis. 2d 167, 174, 663 N.W.2d 700, 703. As Justice Scalia has stated, the rule of lenity "vindicates the fundamental principle that no citizen should be held accountable for a violation of a statute whose commands are uncertain, or subjected to punishment that is not clearly prescribed." *United States* v. *Santos*, 553 U.S. 507, 514, 128 S.Ct. 2020, 170 L.Ed.2d 912 (2008)(plurality opinion, superseded by statute, Fraud Enforcement and Recovery Act of 2009, 18 U.S.C.A § 1956(c)(9), Pub.L. No. 111-21, § 2(f)(1), 123 Stat. 1617).

Wis. Stat. § 938.183 requires exclusive adult court jurisdiction over a juvenile "who is alleged to have violated any state criminal law ... if *the court assigned to exercise jurisdiction under this chapter* and ch. 48 has waived its jurisdiction over the juvenile for a previous violation and criminal proceedings on that previous violation are still pending." Wis. Stat. § 938.183(1)(b)(emphasis added).

"[T]he court assigned to exercise jurisdiction under this chapter and ch. 48" refers to one specific county's juvenile court. Throughout chapter 938, the legislature distinguishes between "the court" and each of the following: "any court," "a court," "any other court" and "each court" assigned to exercise jurisdiction under chapters 48 and 938.

For instance, Wis. Stat. § 938.35(1) differentiates between "the court" and "any court." This section states that "the court" shall enter a judgment setting forth the court's finding and disposition in the proceeding. It continues to state that, while juvenile records are normally not admissible as evidence against the juvenile, they are admissible in a proceeding in "any court" assigned to exercise jurisdiction under chapters 48 and 938. Wis. Stat. § 938.35(1)(b).

"The court" in Wis. Stat. § 938.35(1) refers to the specific court that enters the judgment in the instant case and the instant county, whereas "any court" in § 938.35(1)(b) is meant to broadly encompass any county's juvenile court throughout Wisconsin.

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