RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN **06-19-2019**

IN SUPREME COURT CHARGE OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

Case No. 2017AP1416-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

MATTHEW C. HINKLE,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW FROM A DECISION OF THE WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS AFFIRMING A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING A MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN FOND DU LAC COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE ROBERT J. WIRTZ, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

AARON R. O'NEIL Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1041818

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

The rule does not apply here for three reasons. First, Wis. Stat. § 938.183(1)(b) is a procedural statute, not a penal statute. It gives circuit courts original adult-court jurisdiction over juveniles who have been previously waived into adult court. It does not create a crime or a punishment. See State v. Gantt, 201 Wis. 2d 206, 210, 548 N.W.2d 134 (Ct. App. 1996) (statute establishing state's general jurisdiction over crimes, Wis. Stat. § 939.03, is a procedural, not a penal statute).

Second, the rule of lenity is inapplicable because Wis. Stat. § 938.183(1)(b) is not ambiguous. A statute is ambiguous only if it "can support two reasonable interpretations." *State v. Williams*, 198 Wis. 2d 479, 487, 544

N.W.2d 400 (1996). The State's interpretation of the statute is the only reasonable one. Hinkle's reading is unreasonable because it requires a parsing of the various articles and words modifying "court assigned to exercise jurisdiction" throughout chapter 938 to avoid the statute's plain language. Had the legislature meant for a county-by-county application of the section 938.183(1)(b), it presumably would have made its intentions clearer instead of leaving what are, at best, ambiguous hints throughout the rest of the chapter.

Third, and finally, the rule does not apply because the legislative history clarifies that the Legislature intended that once a juvenile is waived into adult court, all future criminal proceedings against the juvenile will begin in adult criminal court. As explained, the committee's report enacting chapter 938 explains that the legislature intended that criminal courts have original jurisdiction over previously waived juveniles based on the principle of "once waived, always waived." *Juvenile Justice* at 14–15.

Hinkle contends that the report does not "speak to how far-reaching" "once waived, always waived" is. (Hinkle's Br. 24.) Perhaps. But the report also contains nothing to support Hinkle's county-by-county interpretation of Wis. Stat. § 938.183(1)(b). The lack of any limitations on the report's use of "once waived, always waived" suggests that the Legislature intended the State's interpretation of the statute, not Hinkle's.

In sum, Hinkle has not shown that his interpretation of Wis. Stat. § 938.183(1)(b) is correct. This Court should conclude that the circuit court had original adult-court jurisdiction over Hinkle.

C. No Wis. Stat. § 938.18 waiver proceeding was necessary because the circuit court had original adult-court jurisdiction.

Hinkle also argues that the circuit court issued the order waiving him into adult court in error. (Hinkle's Br. 14–15.) He claims that the order contradicts the court's oral ruling and incorrectly states that he did not contest waiver. (Hinkle's Br. 14–15.) And, Hinkle argues, the court never actually held a waiver hearing, so he was never validly ordered into adult court. (Hinkle's Br. 15.)

None of these arguments should matter to the outcome of this case. As the court of appeals held, "these arguments are no longer pertinent" because the circuit court had original adult-court jurisdiction. *Hinkle*, 384 Wis. 2d 612, ¶ 22 n.8. A waiver hearing or a written order were not necessary given this holding. *Id*. And any error by the court in the written order was of no consequence to the case and harmless. *Id*. (citing *State v. Nieves*, 2017 WI 69, ¶ 17, 376 Wis. 2d 300, 897 N.W.2d 363). Hinkle's challenges to the court's order or lack of a waiver hearing should fail.

II. Hinkle has not shown that his attorney was ineffective for failing to object to the circuit court's exercise of original jurisdiction or to the lack of a waiver into adult court.

This Court should also reject Hinkle's claim that his attorney should have objected to the circuit court's conclusion it had original jurisdiction and its failure to hold a waiver hearing. (Hinkle's Br. 28–30.)

To prove ineffective assistance of counsel, Hinkle must establish both that trial "counsel's performance was deficient" and that this performance prejudiced his defense. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984).

To demonstrate deficient performance, a defendant must establish that his or her counsel "made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the 'counsel' guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687.

To satisfy the prejudice prong, the defendant must show a "reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694. To establish prejudice when a defendant alleges that counsel's deficiencies led him to plead guilty or no contest, the defendant must show that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for the counsel's errors, he would not have pleaded guilty [or no contest] and would have insisted on going to trial." *Hill v. Lockhart*, 474 U.S. 52, 59 (1985).

Hinkle's claim fails on both *Strickland* prongs. To show deficient performance, Hinkle has to prove that his counsel could have successfully objected to the circuit court's determination that it had original adult-court jurisdiction and to its failure to hold a waiver hearing. To satisfy this burden, Hinkle's interpretation of Wis. Stat. § 938.183(1)(b) must be correct. As the State has shown, Hinkle's interpretation is wrong. Counsel is not deficient for not making an objection that would have failed. *See State v. Wheat*, 2002 WI App 153, ¶ 14, 256 Wis. 2d 270, 647 N.W.2d 441.

Further, if the State is wrong and Hinkle's interpretation of the statute is correct, his ineffective assistance claim still fails. At the time counsel did not object, there was no case law definitively interpreting Wis. Stat. § 938.183(1)(b). Whether a previous waiver had to come from the same county or whether a waiver from a different county was sufficient was, at best, an unresolved issue. An attorney is not deficient for failing to raise an argument premised on

an unsettled legal question. See State v. Lemberger, 2017 WI 39, ¶ 33, 374 Wis. 2d 617, 893 N.W.2d 232.

Moreover, counsel was hardly deficient for how she handled this unresolved issue. She read the statute and consulted with the SPD's appellate office before advising Hinkle that it provided for original adult-court jurisdiction. (R. 85:9, 12–13, 15.) She also said that her reading of the statute led her not to challenge the court's waiver order because "the ultimate resolution would be that he would be in adult court." (R. 85:9.) Counsel adequately researched the statute's meaning. She advised Hinkle of her conclusions and acted on them. Counsel did what a reasonable lawyer would do, so she was not deficient.

Hinkle also cannot show prejudice. He asserts that he would not have even been able to accept the State's plea bargain had counsel moved to dismiss the charges. (Hinkle's Br. 29–30.) Hinkle acknowledges that had counsel successfully moved to dismiss, the charges might still have wound up back in adult court if the State successfully sought a waiver. (Hinkle's Br. 29–30.) But, he claims, the issue is whether he would have accepted the specific plea bargain that he ultimately wound up taking. (Hinkle's Br. 29–30.)

This argument fails because it is speculative. *State v. Erickson*, 227 Wis. 2d 758, 774, 596 N.W.2d 749 (1999). Hinkle cannot show that the outcome of his case would have been any different had counsel successfully moved to dismiss the charges. It is true that any number of things could have occurred had the charges gone back to juvenile court. But Hinkle has to prove what would have most likely occurred and how it was different from what actually happened. He cannot do this, and thus, he has not proven prejudice.

III. Hinkle forfeited his direct challenges to the circuit court's having adult-court jurisdiction by not contemporaneously objecting and all of his claims by entering his no-contest pleas.

This Court should also conclude that Hinkle forfeited his claims. His claim that the court did not have original adult-court jurisdiction is forfeited by his *Alford* and no contest pleas and by his failure to object to the court's jurisdiction before he entered those pleas. Hinkle's ineffective assistance claim is forfeited by his no contest pleas.⁴ And even though this Court is going to address the merits of Hinkle's claims given their importance, it should also address the State's forfeiture argument because it likewise presents a significant issue.

A. A defendant forfeits non-jurisdictional claims by not making a contemporaneous objection in the circuit court and by entering no contest and *Alford* pleas.

To preserve a claim for appellate review, a party must raise it in the circuit court. State v. Nelis, 2007 WI 58, ¶ 31, 300 Wis. 2d 415, 733 N.W.2d 619. This preservation requirement includes challenges to the circuit court's ability to hear a case involving a juvenile in adult court. See State v. Sanders, 2018 WI 51, ¶¶ 19–24, 381 Wis. 2d 522, 912 N.W.2d 16. An objection must be contemporaneous to the error alleged. State v. Delgado, 2002 WI App 38, ¶ 12, 250 Wis. 2d 689, 641 N.W.2d 490. It also must state the specific grounds it is based on. Nelis, 300 Wis. 2d 415, ¶ 31. Claims

⁴ The State uses "forfeiture" in this brief when referring to Hinkle's loss of appellate rights based on his pleas, though courts most commonly use "waiver" instead *See State v. Kelty*, 2006 WI 101, ¶ 18 & n.11, 294 Wis. 2d 62, 716 N.W.2d 886.

not so preserved are forfeited, and this Court is not required to address them. *In re Guardianship of Willa L.*, 2011 WI App 160, ¶ 27, 338 Wis. 2d 114, 808 N.W.2d 155.

In addition, "a guilty, no contest, or *Alford* plea '[forfeits] all nonjurisdictional defects, including constitutional claims[.]" *State v. Bembenek*, 2006 WI App 198, ¶ 16, 296 Wis. 2d 422, 724 N.W.2d 685 (footnote omitted). That is so because a guilty plea is "a break in the chain of events [that] preceded it in the criminal process." *Tollet v. Henderson*, 411 U.S. 258, 267 (1973). When a defendant has admitted guilt in court, he cannot raise claims that his constitutional rights were violated before the plea. He can attack only "the voluntary and intelligent" nature of the plea. *Id*.

B. Hinkle's direct challenge to the circuit court's jurisdiction is forfeited by his failure to contemporaneously object and by his pleas.

This Court should conclude that Hinkle's forfeited his claim that the circuit court incorrectly determined that it had original adult-court jurisdiction⁵ by both his failure to object to the court's ruling and by his decision to later enter his *Alford* and no contest pleas.

Hinkle never objected when the court determined that it had original jurisdiction over the charges. Instead, his counsel agreed with the court's interpretation of the statute and said it was her "understanding that it's pretty much automatic." (R. 61:3.) Hinkle's complaints that the court

⁵ Again, Hinkle's claim is actually a challenge to the court's competency, not its jurisdiction, so it is subject to forfeiture. *Sanders*, 381 Wis. 2d 522, ¶ 19.

erred, after his pleas and now on appeal, come too late. *See Sanders*, 381 Wis. 2d 522, ¶ 24.

Hinkle's related argument that he needed to be waived into adult court under Wis. Stat. § 938.18 is also forfeited by his failure to object. Hinkle did not argue that he was improperly waived until after his conviction. If Hinkle thought the court erred, he needed to tell the court as soon as he learned of the supposed mistake. But all Hinkle did was tell the court that he was not agreeing to a waiver. (R. 61:3.) That statement was not an objection to a supposedly improper waiver decision or to the later-completed written order waiving him into adult court.

In addition, Hinkle's arguments that the circuit court erred in applying Wis. Stat. §§ 938.18 and 938.183(1)(b) are barred by his no contest and *Alford* pleas. The guilty-pleaforfeiture rule applies to errors in juvenile waiver proceedings. *See State v. Kraemer*, 156 Wis. 2d 761, 764–65, 457 N.W.2d 562 (Ct. App. 1990). And again, because Hinkle's asserted errors relate to competency, not jurisdiction, they are subject to forfeiture, both generally and under the guilty-plea-forfeiture rule. *See Sanders*, 381 Wis. 2d 522, ¶ 19; *Bembenek*, 296 Wis. 2d 422, ¶ 16.

Hinkle contends that his no contest pleas were to a "legal impossibility" that made them unknowing, unintelligent, and involuntary. (Hinkle's Br. 24–28.) And it is true that an illegal provision "produces a plea that is as a matter of law . . . neither knowing nor voluntary," *State v. Dawson*, 2004 WI App 173, ¶ 11, 276 Wis. 2d 418, 688 N.W.2d 12 (citation and internal quotation marks omitted), which could arguably be a way around the guilty plea forfeiture rule.

But there is no basis to overlook Hinkle's forfeiture here because Hinkle's plea did not involve a legal impossibility for two reasons. First, Hinkle's claim that his pleas were a legal impossibility depends on his interpretation of Wis. Stat. § 938.183(1)(b) being correct. As argued, Hinkle is wrong about the statute, so he cannot withdraw his pleas or overcome his forfeiture.

Second, Hinkle did not plead to anything legally impossible. It was not impossible for the circuit court to have adult-court jurisdiction over Hinkle. Even if the court did not have original adult-court jurisdiction based on Hinkle's previous waiver, that fact did not guarantee that the case would be resolved in juvenile court. The State could have sought a waiver of Hinkle into adult court, if necessary, and the circuit court could have granted one. See Wis. Stat. § 938.18. Thus, Hinkle is wrong when he argues that the court's supposed lack of original adult-court jurisdiction amounts to a legal impossibility.

Further, the cases that Hinkle relies on are distinguishable because they all involve actual legally impossible promises by the State that induced the defendants' pleas. Because those benefits were illusory, the defendants had to be allowed to withdraw their pleas.

In *Riekkoff*, the parties' plea agreement agreed to allow the defendant to appeal an evidentiary ruling in contravention of the guilty-plea-waiver rule. *State v. Riekkoff*, 12 Wis. 2d 119, 127–28, 332 N.W.2d 744 (1983). This Court concluded that the parties and the circuit court could not agree to overlook the rule. *Id*.

Likewise, in *State v. Dawson*, the State promised in the plea agreement to reopen and amend the charges "if Dawson successfully completed probation." *Dawson*, 276 Wis. 2d 418, ¶ 2. The court of appeals held that the law did not allow the State to reopen and amend the charges. *Id*. $\P\P$ 14, 21, 25.

Finally, in *State v. Woods*, the plea agreement called for the court to make a criminal sentence consecutive to a juvenile disposition. 173 Wis. 2d 129, 133, 496 N.W.2d 144 (Ct. App. 1992). The court said that the law did not permit this. *Id.* at 137–38.

Thus, in all of these cases, the defendants' pleas were the result of the State's legally impossible promises in the plea agreement. Here, in contrast, there was nothing impermissible in the plea agreement that caused Hinkle to enter his pleas. The only error, if there was one, was that the circuit court mistakenly thought it had original adult-court jurisdiction over Hinkle. But the court's having adult-court jurisdiction was not a legal impossibility because the court could have obtained that jurisdiction over Hinkle in other ways. Thus, the error did not affect the validity of Hinkle's pleas, and his claim should be subject to the guilty-pleaforfeiture rule.

C. Hinkle forfeited his ineffective assistance claim by his *Alford* and no contest pleas.

This Court should also conclude that Hinkle's pleas forfeited his ineffective assistance claim because the errors he alleges did not affect whether his pleas were knowing, voluntary, or intelligent.

Wisconsin courts have usually treated ineffective assistance claims as an exception to the guilty-pleaforfeiture rule, and thus, as a way to address otherwise forfeited claims. *See Sanders*, 381 Wis. 2d 522, ¶ 24; *State v. Milanes*, 2006 WI App 259, ¶ 13, 297 Wis. 2d 684, 727 N.W.2d 94.

But in *State v. Villegas*, 2018 WI App 9, 380 Wis. 2d 246, 908 N.W.2d 198, the court of appeals held that Villegas's guilty pleas had forfeited his claim that counsel was ineffective during a Wis. Stat. § 938.18 juvenile waiver

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